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- Postscript

: Like_the, clamor that first created public parks in Ameri-
tan cities in the 1800s; today there is a correspending call -
o for the rehabilitation and restoration of those same parks,
cae . now a century or more old. Following in the wake of the
movement to. conserve old buildings, historic landscape

_ ) preservation is a relatively new field — one that is just
~ how finding ways to meet the particular challenges of
5 restormg living landmarks.
New York City’s Central Park the park that started
the first wave of interest in urban park building — also
" inspired the preservation movement now spreading to
L other cities. In the earl:;; 1970s, public and private inter-
S '_ . 'ests embarked on an innovative plan to restore portibns of
o : that public landscape to its original character. Comparable
' .prOJects have now been campieted in Philadelphia,
Boston, Seattle, and in HW.S, Cleveland’s Roger Wil-
liams Park in Providence, Rhode Island;
- We are fortunate to have in Omaha a park system
with a similarly rich history. The City of Omaha’s Parks
and Planning Departments have long recogﬁized the
importance of this resource and bave worked hard to |
maintain it. Nexghborhood and civic groups have been
especially diligent in their advocacy of our older grban
parks. : o : 7
' Nevertheless conservmg the historic character of our
- 'parks and boulevards will be an. mcreasmgly challenging .
_ i - endeavor as the system enters its second century. What
s ) S o T . we do pow-will determine if the history in Omaha’s older -
o S w7 parksisa legacy that will be Jost — or reclaxmed for
Ce 7 future generations. '




16th Street ‘This Iand acquasmon appears to have been
part of their attempt to complete a long-held plan for : a

boulevard that would extend entirely around the lake." S
Toward this end, the Cornishes also acquired, over a nuzfii'-‘ S

ber of years, approx1mateiy 140 acres on the Iowa 31de of
CarterLake ' ST
o In 1919 an Omaha Won’d Herald amele aﬁnounced
g the purchases of Towa lakefront Iand by Edward Com;s

. Carter Lake; 1820

and O.C. Redick, the developer of Sand :}’oint Beach, a - .

private “bathing beach.” Redick collaborated with the-
Cornishes in their efforts to reserve the lake for recreation-

.al purposes. With the purchases Redick and the Comzshes_ :

together held title to the entire Jowa shore line, a situation
that would prompt the headline: “...Negotiations Assure
Boulevard Encircling Carter Lake.” As late as the 1940s,
plans would describe “the newly projected Boulevard czr-
cuit around the lake,” but theenmrchng boulevard would
refmain unbuilt.

Certainly, many of the Comlshes hopes for the park
have been realized. Their work of almost thirty years was
noted by the naming of the boulevard that they intended

-as the entrance to the park in their honor.

_lnt'r'odu-c_tion' \

“f would have the city irse-lf such a work of art as may be

' ."_fth'e fitting abode of a race of men and women... whose
" efforts shall be inspired and sustained by the grandeur

- and beauty of the scenes in which their lives are
passed.”— H. W. S. Cleveland.

; ‘The eminent landscape architect Horace W, S. Cleveland
“'set forth this vision of urban life in an address to the Min-
" neapolis Society of Fine Arts in 1888. One year later
" ‘Cleveland would be called to Omaha by the newly formed
7 Board of Park Commissioners to design a public green-
o épace system for the city booming on the bluffs of the
~ Missouri River. Through the efforts of Cleveland, public
' officials and civic-minded citizens, the foundation was
o laid for a park and boulevard system that has © mspxred
" and sustained” Omaha résidents by ‘zts_ ‘grandeur and.
 beauty” for more than one hundred years..

 While the natural beauty and recreati_onéi benefits of

" Omaha’s parks are widely appreciated, aspects of the sys-
_ tem’s historic importance have not been fully recognized.
- Because of its association with H.W. S. Cleveland — an
e important figure in 19th céntm'y American landscape
- architecture — Omaha’s park and boulevard system sur-
- vives as a signjficant landmark in landscape éemgn and

urban planning in the M}dwest

‘Hanscom Pérk;
© 1918




. pleasing aesthetic effect. By artistically arrangmg trees

Thoixgh it might now appear that a number of Oma-

ha’s older parks such as Hanscom or Elmwood are essen- -,

tially tracts that have remained in their natural state, in
actuality, the case is quite different. Looking now ata
‘stand of pines that crowns a hill in Miller Park, one

would not imagine that the site was a flat, treeless corne

-field when it was purchased in 1893. An immense
- ammount of planning and expertise, money and physical

.. labor were expended in transforming the vacant plot into -

. wooded park land. The example of Miller Park is not .
" unique; each of our parks and parkways was created
through a lengthy and complex process that incladed, -
o among other things, Jand survcymg and’ gradmg, tree _:‘
" planting, stream rerouting, and road building.:
- These Iand~5hapmg activities were mspued and _
g ditected by H. W. S. Cleveland’s ideas about urban park
land design. He believed that the land’s natural beauty -
and interesting features should be respected and retamed

- but'with the landscipe architect’s idealism, Cleveland felt o

that nature could be improved to bring about a mcre

.- and shrubbery, laying out paths and roads t_fh&t fo}lowed-
the natural contours of the ground, and erthancing exist- -

- ing features such as cliffs or ravines, Cleveland created. ™

- remarkably scenic park land, often from property that .
- was considered worthless. Aspects of Omaha’s early
... parks and boulevards dxsplay hlS design s1gnature yet

" today. _ ST :
' The concerns. of Cleveland and those who Eaunched
‘Omaha’s parks movement extended beyond a singular
‘focus on the arrangement of trees s fﬁe grading of a hill:
'ezrf 1s1on was broader They beheve ' that the buﬂdmg

Makmg parks and boulevards “mtegra1 portions of -
the city, instead of bemgmerely ornamental appendages,
as Cleyeiand put it, required a great deal of municipal
“* coordination and planning, more than city governments
of a cenfury ago were wont to do. Land needed to be pur-

10 WA




Lake Nakoma — be officially named Carter Lake
' With the prior acquisition of Miller, Fonteneilé and '~
Kountze parks, the Park Commissioners were not ibdﬁdﬁg‘l L
to add to their holdings in the northem sector of the cp:y ' CRL
Nevertheless the Board welcorned Sehna Carter ] offer. A . .
number of south-side citizens and several city councﬂmen o e
however, abjected to the proposal which' required. that the S
C1ty prov1de matching funds to develop the property. Thc
protesters felt that City money would be bei&er spent

improving. CXIStmg pa.rk prcpertles . ) v

A 1908 Commissioners Teport stat€s that “by the _

‘ acqulsmon of this park Omaha is gwen a beaunful body Of
the nearly two deqades since Omaha’s first parks Werc—de-
veloped, more active forms of leisure activity hé'dibébgd,m'
* popular. The board’s interest in the lake property reflect
this shift in attitude about the purpose of parks — from:

garlier focus on the quiet enjoyment of plcturesque scenery o
to a pew emphaszs on the provision of facilities for more:
active activities, such as swimming, golf, tennis and .ba_\sg—.; .
ball. ' B SRR e

In the same year that Selina Cafter:‘ déziated funds for .

Levi Carter Park, she married Edward J. Cornish, an Oma- -~ k

ha attomey who had served on the Park COmmmSlon since 1
1896. After moving from Omaha in 1911 and until their . "
deat.hs in the late 1930s, the Cornishes continued to play . -
an active role in the development of Levi Carter Park -

through gifts of property and funds fori unprovement pro-
jects.

Two years after their donauon of Levi Carter Park
Edward and Selina Cornish deeded to the City for $1 a
250-foot strip of property they had acquired between-

. Carter Park on the east and 16th Street on the west to serve -
as an entrance to the park. The corridor tied-the new park -

to a major thoroughfare, but did not link it to the boulevard e

system. That connection was estabiish_éd when land for S '
Carter Boulevard was secured by the dity it 1910 Lhrough

the condemmation of property along the north szde of .

.. Grand Street from the park’ to Florence Boﬂevard ;

Later, in 1930 the Corniskes: ;t;ought two additional

. pieces of land on either side of the boulevard corridor to

-

' chased in advance of its development, before the price -
" became prohibitive, and purchases needed to be made '
R ‘strategically, so that park sites could accommodate later
i . population growth. '

The Park Commissioners™ work in developmg policy

. and procedures aimed at shaping the future form and
. development of the city was an innovative practice, one

that anticipated modem-day city planning. Under the lead-
ership of the Commissioners and the guidance of H-W.S.

" Cleveland, Omaha was early among cities of the Midwest
' to institute and act upon this comprehensive program for
: city betterment —— this vision that would have the whole

city “a work of art.”

’Ihc ideas, hopes and energies of HW, S. Cleveland
and civic-minded Omahans of a century ago are embodied
in the designs of our historic parks and boulevards; their

- form and features bear the stamp of those who fashioned-

them and the period in which they were produced. Over
the years, however, the story of the origins of our park .
system has been largely forgotten. The intent of this guide

. isto bring the foundations of this living landmark to light..

Birch Drive, Ml!ier
Park; 1917

“To accomphsh this purpose, the guide begms wzrh a

- _ - descnpnon of the early growth and development of the

Omaha park systern placed within the historic context of
the 19th century parks movement in the United States.

~Following is information about the system’s individual

parks and boulevards — also focusing on their eaﬂy histo-

STy — ananged in the formof a tour.



. Covered in the course of this gﬁide are a dozen parks -

_ . and apprbximately thirty-five miles of boulevards. Space

permits only a brief stop at each of these major sites, but .

~‘we hope that the information presented will encourage. i

 you to further explore the rich history and scenic beauty’
of this important civic resource. ' o

-~ Levi Carter Park Carter Boulevard
‘Cornish Boulevard o

The oxbow lake that formed north of the city when the
-Missouri River changed course-in 1877 — Cut-Off Lake,
as it was first Xnown -—. soon became valued as a com-
- mercial and recreational resource. The South Omaha
_ 7 E ‘meatpackers Swift and Armour were among those who _
, Sl e e Tocated fce cutting and warehousing operatioﬁs along the :_'
Historic Context. - ... . . > . lake’s northem banks. Attracted by its water-related recre-
AR o ' S ational advantages, a beach resort with a large boat house
: ', and two-story pavﬂmn a Rod and Gun Club, and a _
. YMCA camp had all settled on the lake shores by 1906.
" Omaha mdﬁsmahst Levi Carter owner of thc Carter -
‘White Lead Works in nearby East Omaha, became inter-

- American cities experienced tremendots’ growthinthe -
.. later decades of the _Ich century. At mid-century, only
~ one in five Americans lived in urban areas; by 1900, _thé e )
- proportion of city-dwellers had climbed to about 40 per~ .-
.. cent of the total U.S. population. The nation’s largest city, ' ested in Cut-Off Lake for somewhat different reasons. As
. New York, for example, grew by a factor of five mfrom' 3 _ his wife Selina Carter noted, “He passed this Jand daily in -
- about 700,000 to almost 3. 5 million persons —inthe . " L . going to and from his business, and was among the first to -
ﬁfty-year penod between 1850 and 1900. . - ses its desirability for park and boulevard purposes.” In .
- . T ' 1908, three years after Carter’s death, his. widow donated
: American 'Urban'iza'tion' ahd‘ the Gro’wth of the Parks S 7 $50,000 to the city to acquire lakefront land for a public

“ Movement S : ... 7" park memorializing her husband. Terms of the donation - _
' . As19th century Amencan cmes grcw 1arger dlmer more -:'_:- . stipulated that Cut-Off Lake — also at that time known as’

‘¢rowded and crime-ridden, voices emerged through the o
dinto Jead the way to a more ideal urban vxszon Thzs '
. new view — shaped by social reformers, engineers, . . ..
physicians, architects and poets — proposed that the sal- - _ -
" yation of cities was to be found in the country. Or at least - o . Carter Lake; 1017
-, in the qualities and values inherent in rural life. Accord- - _ o )
. ing to these civic improvers, urbanization had 6bscured T o '
the connection between humankind and nature: break up..
' the urban gndlron with naturahstxc greenery and a more
. civilized city would result. - ,
- 7. One of the primary proponents of IhlS view was" oo
' Fredenc_:k Law Olmsted (1822-1903), who is acknowl— - S :
. ~edged as the father of American iandscépe architecture. -
Olmsted was a key figure in the 19th century urban parks _ .
' - movement and together with his partner Calvert Vaux - . ... 7 " Carter Lake Mumcxpai .
won the 1858 competition to design New York City’s -~ ' .. Boach; 1929 )
Central Park, the nation’s ﬁrst comprehenswcly plarmed
public urban park.




: e Even before Central Park was completed, & number
“of other cities — among them Philadelphia, Baltimore,
b Brooklyn and Detroit ~ began to develop pléns_ for plea-
" sure grounds based on the Central Park model, and in
" many cases with Olmsted’s direct design help. In the
. decades following the Civil War, the interest in park-

Kountze Park; 1913

‘and let streets Pinkney io Prait. The tcrms of the daed:
required that the parcels be forever used as a pubhc park
known as Kountze Park, and that the Clty spend $5 '
improve the property during 1897, the ﬁ;st year: of_ aty
year period of use granted to the, 'eXposision.compén The
Commissioners exceeded the agreed-upon sum'arid- Spel

about $35,000 improving its land and roadways Ieadmg to

the property. = : "

-The park parcel cons‘ututed oniy a smal! portlcm of the
Trans-Mississippt’s total of neatly two hundred acres; yet.:
across the Park Commissioners’ ground stretched the fai:;?s
main attraction, the Mirror Lagoon. A reﬂectzng pool

lined by impressive, Rena.zssance~;nsp1red buildings, the L

lagoon entertained exposmen visitors wnh Cruises in -
Venetian gondolas. -

After the closing of the fair, the Boarg, accordmg to.

its 1898 report was left with “two iron bridges, an artesian
well...a quantity of trees and shrubs, a macadamized
boulevard...and the park land.” One year later; the Board
reported its intent to rermove the bridges, fill the lagoon
and grade the site in preparation for the park’s futare
development. Evidently, building debris remaining from
the demolition of the fair’s temporary plaster structures
was used, in part, to fill the Mirror Lagoon. In 1901, some -
rather large expenses for “filling and grading for lagoon
and artesian wells” were paid out of the park fund; a pair - '
of smaller ponds was apparently fashioned from:this. -
rearrangement of the site. The 'iagoons,'s:tocked with fish,
remained a feature of the park as late as 'ihe 1930s.

o ~building spread from older, more established cities to
S newa developing urban areas; the movement cauz,ht hold
SR m Omaha in the 18805

: : ,_The Greening of Omaha ) 7
T <" The push for parks in Omaha culminated in 1889 with the

state legislature’s enactment of a law that gave metropoli- -
tan class cities an effective means of acquiring, develop-

* ing and maintaining a system of public parks and boule-
~+ vards. Before the passage of this statute, the City of -
*. Omaha lacked the clear legal authority to establish a park

commission with the power to.raise funds through taxa-

~ tion and the issuance of bonds. Consequently, at the time
-of the new legislation, Jefferson Square — the only pub-
-~ lic property surviving from the original 1854 platting of

the city —- was in dire need of a facelift; and Hanscom

- Park, a fifty-acre tract donated to the city in 1872, re-

mained virtually undeveloped and little used. . - .
The poor state of the city’s park properties had long

" been disturbing to a number of Omaha’s leading citizens
- who had lobbied forcefully for the 1889 legislation. The
-+ cause was perhaps closest to the heart and pen: of George
‘L. Miller, an Omaha pioneer physician who refocused his

. career on newspapering in 18635 when he co-founded the

Omaha Daily Herald. An avid arborist, Miller used his

- editorial power to convince the public of the need for
. parks—a need that was becoming mcreasmgly pressing
- in-the boom years of the 1880s.

In the decade of the 1880s, Omaha’s popul&tlon

. jumped from thirty thousand to over one hundred thou-
~sand persons. As the city consumed more and more of the
- adjoining countryside, Dr. Miller and a growing group of

' like-minded residens feared the increase of urban ills and
- saw parks providing an effective antidote. Not only con-

«cerned with bettering conditions inside the citv limits.



ambenawn cea NF nalitice ‘and endrulation

- E:li!'iwccd_ Park; 1914

thié'group of influential citizens also wanted to impro*ufe. -
.~ Omaha’s image to the rest of the country. A fine system. = .

- -of parks would add a civiliiéd—ﬁnd progressive aspect to.

- -the city of stockyards, smeiters wholesahng and rzn]road« ) B
. ing. In turn, this enhanced i maage would attract people

.'_and capital. Parks could: bnng inereased 3 pmspenty, 30
.- argued Dr. Miller and his supporters.,-. SRR

As provided in the new parks statute, in May of 1889_ L

o Omaha’s first Board of Park Comrmsswners was named -
" -by judges of the District Couﬂ:..Among the five men

selected were: George W, Lininger, farm implement deal- RRp

‘er and art gallery owner; Augustus Pratt, a real estate -
-developer; former State Supreme Court Judge George B.

- Lake; banker Alfred Millard; and the aformentmned .
George L. Miller. At the Commissioners’ ﬁrst session, Dr

. - Mlller was voted Board President.

s Dr. GeorgeeL M:Iier e e

. - At'the time of his apposhtment to the-Board of Patk Com-

missioners, Dr. Miller had been.a Ies1dent of Omaha for
" more than thirty years. ‘A r}aﬁve of upsf:ate_ New York,

. Miller came to. Omaha‘at the-age of twenty-fourin 1854
- to practice medicine in:what was then astruggling vil- -

- lage. But when the young doctor realized. that he could

.- not make a living in the small settlement, he gave up the-_
. professxon and, in his'own words “foated out upon an -

EL I

' Kountze Park lagonn' -
1930

" _ FoHowing the bluff .li'n_é_él-c'm'g Vti.lé Missouri, Florence

‘Boulevard was laid out to afford fine views of the river’
“valley. Immediately upon its opening, the route became

popular for recreational drives — first by carriage and _
bicycle, afterward by antomobile. Because of its scenic,

. level course and the _fact that the roadbed was not broken - '

up by sireet rallw y.trackage, the boulevard was describ-

‘edin 1895 as “the only suuable driveway in the city.”
- Later, lmed by tall sycamores and attractive homes, a
lengthi cf Florence Boulevard near ‘Vhller Park became

known as “The Prettiest Mile.”
Kountze Park’s eleven acres becarne pubhe property

as 4 direct result of the 1898 Trans-Mississippi and Inter-

national Exposition, Omaha'’s version of a world’s fair that

_ attracted more. than two million visitors. The site selected -

for the fair was a large tract of land north of the city owned-
by Omaha pioneer banker and real estate developer Her-

" man Kountze. . City officials wanted to assist the Exposi-

tion Board in developing the grounds, but state law prohib- -
ited the allocation of City funds for this pﬁrpoSe. If the

_property were dedicateé park land, however, public money

could be spent by the Park Commmmoners to improve the -

. propertyas a cny park

Taking that approach in 1897 Herman Koumze s

- . United Real Estate and Trust Company conveyed to the - -
- City for the consideration of $1, twin parcels of about five - :.
" and ane-half acree earch hetwaen 10th and 20th aad 20th
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Dr. Miller served three terms in the territc)ﬁal legisla-

::_' _tu%e and then was nominated for Congress. A defeat at the
 polls ended his further pursuit of elected office, yet it did
‘not dim his desire for an active career in politics and pub-
- . ¢ service. Toward this end, in 18635, Miller co-founded
. the Omaha Daily Herald. As the newspaper’s publisher
- "and editor for more than twenty years, Miller acquired a

strong and respected voice that affected public affairs on

. local, state and national levels.

One of Dr. Miller’s most important contributions to
the city and the entire state was the important role he

" played in securing the location of the Union Pacific’s
- bridge and eastern terminus at Omaha in 1868. By suc-

Gearge L. Miller

cessfully representing Omaha’s interests in negotiations
with raliroad officials, Miller helped' to assure the city’s
status as an impogtant regional transporiaticn- center.
Expanding upon that achievement, Miller involved himself
with a broad spectrum of issues and activifies, ranging
from law enforcement to experimental agriculture ~all
aimed at the building up of Omaha and Nebraska.

* In 1887, George Miller retired from journalism, seli-
ing the newspaper that would several years later merge
with the Omaha Daily World to bécome the World-Herald.
Not inclined to remain idle, Miller took the pbs_ition of o
general manager of the New York Life Insurance Compa-
-ny’'s Nebraska operation while he maintained a variety of
civic and social involvements that in addition to the Park
' Commission included work for the Humane Society,



- HW.S, C!eve!and ‘ - _
Under the leadership of Presmunt M11}er one of the Board'f. Lo

'Immanuel Hospxtal anci the Nebraska State Hlstoncai
Society. '

- estate located then about five miles southwest of the city.
- In 1867 Miller purchased the first parcel of what would

- gventually become a 650-acre tract envisioned by its owni-

er for development as an elite suburb. The doctor planted

the property with thousands of oak, catalpa.and wal;}ﬁt' B

. trees and bailt an imposing stone mansion, . The house:
. burned in 1899, and nine years later Miller began selling
- off the property for development as a townsite. In 1912

the ared formeriy comprising Seymour Park was incorpo—
o tated agthe city of Ralston. - o e -

_ The close of George Miller’s life st&nds n marked
comntrast to the productivity and public character of his

o earlier years: in 1909 he suffered a mental collapse and

‘remained an invalid until his death at the age of ninety in

:.; 1920. In the care of his niece, he dled a poor mar, buned S

© with funds provided by his friends.

To begm the biographical proﬁle of Dr. Mllier in thmr

* History of the City of Omaha, Nebraska, James W. Sav- -
* age and John T. Beﬁ write: “Of all those who have been
© identified with the growth and progre_ss of Omaha and -

- have left their impression upon its history, no one has a :
reputation more to be'cove_tec_i than George L. Miller.”.

of Commissioners' first and most farsighted actions was
the commlssmmng of the emment 1andscape archltect
HWS. Cleveland (18 14-1900) to provzde direction i i

' deagnmg 4 comprehensive park system for the city.
When the Omaha Board selected Horace William: -

" Shaler Cleveland, then se.*,fenty-ﬁve, to Vsewe as its adv1— S

sor, the landscape architect wes living i Minneapolis .
where he was employed in a similar capacity by the Park
Boards of Minneapolis and St. Paul. A native of Massa- .

' chussctts Cleveiand early in his life worked as & farmer

[ PR I T h,—w—hmvh«-«««- [ P, Annnsiatad -

Related to Miller's interest in forestry and Iand devel- .
' opmerzt another project tha{ eccupxed a.great deal of his
L attention over the years was . Seymour Park his’ country - "

Fiorence Boulevard

- Ko_untze Park

" After three years of planning and a number of false -
- starts, the city engineer set the stakes for Florence '
" Boulevard ont October 10, 1892. This event marked the
beginning of the city’s bouié_i/aid system and, according
' to the World-Herald, the realization of a “hope... sprung
L 'pergnniai in the Omaha heart for the last decade.”

" Fiorence Boulevard; 1938

The initial stretch of parkway was constructed north

" from Ames Avemue to near the Parker tract (later Miller .~ -
- Park). Although the boulevard’s one-hundred-foot right- - '
-:.of-way does not conform to HW. 5. Cleveland’s two-
~ hundred-foot standard for “ormamental avenues,” a Park
. Commissioners report refers to payment made to the _
: .i'iaﬁ-dscape architect for plans. It is not known _hov{f close- ..
1y actual construction followed Cleveland’s designs. )

In 1897 the section of the boulevard along 19th and

. "20th Streets between Chicagb- Street and Ames was
: - placed under the jurisdiction of the Park Commissioners. -

* ““This roadway was improved by the addition oflandand .
landscapmg, but the ex1stmg hnear road conﬁguratxon -

e ek .-.1;-.-.....-.,1



to the cast. In 1884, a tract of land incli;ding the piﬁiﬁt 'wa'é;: ey
 platted as the Belvedere Addition, a name demved from o

an Ttalian word meaning “beautiful view.” -

A proposal for a boulevard through the Belveder &
area was discussed by the Park Commissioners as early as’
1889, precedmg their purchase of the tracts that waul 1
become Miller and Fontenelle parks. Certainly the Com- e
missioners were drawn to the area because of its pictur-- e

esque terrain; adding to their interest, however, was the =
" proximity of the three-hundred-acre Forest Lawn Ceme- e
tery, established in 1885 about two miles northwest of
Fort Omaha. : :
In the 19th century, part:culariy before the spread of
pﬁbhc parks, cemeteries were widely used by wban
dwellers as recreation spots. Some of the earliest boi
- vard planning efforts were thus focused in the. Bel
.area in an attempt to link Forest Lawn with prospecuv
park sites. Later, in the late 1920s, the City woul acqu
property to extend Fontenelle Boulevard fro
and Martin Avenue to Forest Lawn Avenu Ly sex
ing the boulevard connectlon contamplated many “yeass
earlier. ' IR

| _ .: w1th Frederick Law Olmsted in designing Prospect Park
“in Brooidyn during the late 1860s, and the two remamed
“. lifelong friends and colleagues.

Cleveland lived until the age of eighty-five, and over

“the course of his career in what was then the newly devel-
~ - oping field of landscape architecture, he completed a
broad range of projects, including designs for parks and

boulevards, resorts, cemeteries, and suburbs in such -

"~ varied locales as Chicago; Providence, Rhode Island;

Indianapciiis; Yekell Island, Georgia and Milwaukee. The
metropolitan park system of the Twin Cities of Min-
neapolis-St. Paul is considered by scholars as his greatest
professmnal achievement. :

. Cleveland's chief interest, however whmh he dis- .
cussed in his 1873 publication: Landscape Archxtecture As

= Applied to the Wants of the West, was “the art of arrangu

ing land” for efﬁmency and beauty in the newly develop- -

i . ing cities of the midwestern region.

.Horace Cleveland worked on Oméha projects fora
five-year period from 1889 until 1894, when health con-
cerns forced him to give up his work here. Board of
Commissioners annual reports show that over this period

B ~ he was paid approximately $6,000 for plans for Jefferson
'  Square, Hanscom, Elmwood, Bemis, Miller, and Font-

enelle parks, as well as survey and design work for por-

~ tions of Florence Boulevard. Through his later writings, it
7 is known that Cleveland himself considered his Omaha

plans to be amone his most iimportant work.



Regrettably, Board of Commissioners reports. pro-
. vide little specific information about the laridscape archi-
tect’s actual designs. More unfortunate is the fact that
 neither Cleveland’s drawings nor plans, and few other
- materials directly related to his Omaha projects, appear to
have survived. This lack of 2 comprehensive body of
 original material documenting the landscape architect’s

work is not a circumstance unique 10 Omabha. The Chica-

' go fire of 1871 ravaged Cleveland’s office, destroying

: records related to nearly twenty years of his early career. ‘

, Certainly_ this lack of information has contributed to
.. the fact that the landscape designer has not-been fully

- recognized for his accomplishments. Due to recent schol~ .
- arship, however, the extent of Cleveland’s importanceas + ... -
* aleading figure in the history.of American landscape .- -

. grchitecture and city planning is now-being realized.

..~ Public springat -
Eimwood Park; 1942

* “A System of Public Parks, Parkways and =
Boulevards” o S

© -~ One important written record that has survived to the pre- - et
o sent is HLW.S. Cleveland’s first report to the Omaha -~ .- L Li

. _Commiésioners. Written in the form of a letter in the . -

landscape architect’s ornate hand, this twenty-eight-page

= document, received by the Bqard in Iuné_ of 1889, out-

- lines the ideas that set the diréctionrfor' parks develop-
" _ment in Omaha for yeai's 10 come. - B S
" ‘The major portion of Cleveland's report contains a. -

Aiernenian nf the Tanderane arrhitent’s osneral nreinecinlec
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tree-planting and construction ofa lake were begu ;
between 1897 and 1898 it is reported that more thar
five thousand trees were planted in the park. Although
Cleveland’s plans have been lost, it is thought that area

" the park have retained aspects of his ongmal dcmgns"ﬁ
stands of pine, Iagoon with an island, and curving, di
are fedtures typn_:al_of his design vocabulary,
In 1893 the Board named the park in honor of D

George L. Miller, the prmmpai force behind the estébimh— S )

“ment of the Board of Park Commmsmners and its first:
" President. For many years the park was known for it
Birch Drive, a roadway lined by paper birches that were
reportedly planted by Dr. Miller himself.

Miller Park; 1914

Belvedere Boulevard — winch meets, Fontenelie

Boulcvard at Kansas Avenue and winds east to Miller Park o

SR

. — was part of the right-of-way obtained through condem— S

-:nation procedings initiated in 1916. At this time, the Clty
. secured the complete length of boulevard connectmg its

- two park properties in Omaha’ s northwest SEctor. Imnally
the entire boulevard was named Beivedere then later |

Fontenelle, and finally each of y hcr earher names was reas-

"-s1gned to separate sectlons of the parkway

D to_ the smmrmt ofa biuff smd to be the highest in the
ity From an elevation of almost twelve hundred feet, the *
" boulevard provides a vista exteriding more than ten miles

Ie ,spect of thlS boulevard is its twisting climb - ..~

Cof pérk system design based on studies of E.ﬁropsan'and
- American cities. Applying these principles specifically to
‘ Omaha, Cleveland proposes a series of small parks —
e “pleasant and easily accessible resorts for pedestrians™—
. ".in the northern and southern sections of the city and “a
“% - large park on the West at the most central point that is
“ available.” He also urges the integration of open spaces

through the construction of “broad omamental avenues,

* known as boulevards or parkways” deswned ‘with a

* tasteful arrangement of trees and shrubbery at {their)
sides and in the center.”

* The language of the 1889 law estabhshmg Omaha’s
. Board of Park Commissioners had specifically charged
the Board with de_yelopmg ‘a system of parks, parkways

. and boulevards,” as Cleveland describes. However, it

appears that in the beginning only Dr. Miller supported
the system concept —- an idea that Cleveland had earlier

- pioneered in his designs for other cities. In an 1891 letter
L to Frederick Law Olmsted, Cleveland writes “Dr. George

L. Miller...for a time stood alone in his wish to secure for
the city a connected system of parks of sufficient area to

‘meet its probable future wants, but he has convinced
. them all of its necessity and they are now very earnest
... advocates of the measure.’

Since few significant maps from the eariy days of the

Commlssmn survive, information about what has become
" known as the “Cleveland Plan” of connected parks and

bouieirards was gained from historians’ accounts, Board
of Commissioners reports, H.W.S. Cleveland’s own let-

ters and nev&spaper articles of the period.

From these sources, it is difficult to determine the

+ full extent of the landscape architect’s role in designing

and planning Omaha’s park system. However, historic

documents do reveal that in addition fo providing a con-
ceptual plan for a network of open spaces and specific

‘designs for six parks, Cleveland also advised the Board

* on the selection of park sites and the routing of boule-

vards. Together, this work imposed a pattern on the land-
_ scape that would guide future park building efforts for
many years.



- Foundaiaons of the System.

‘Between 1889 and 1894, five ma}or tracts of land that

i wotuld become Bemis, Elmwood, Fonteneile, Mﬂler,and .
- Riverview parks were acquired by the Commissioners, . -

~expanding public Eand_holdirigs from about sixty to -
- almost five hundred acres. Apart from property. received

by the Board through private, donations, a majority of this - :
total acreage was purchased by funds provided through a . S

$400,000 bond issue passed by Omaha voters in 1891.

. Also during this five-year period Florence Boule- - R
- vard was opened and progress on acqumng real estate for - a0

: portions of other boulevards was undér way. Major ..
" improvement projects directed by H.W. 8. Cleveland -

. were completed in Jefferson Square and Hanscom Park o

“and substantial work was begun in Bemis, Elmwood, and-. B

. Milter parks foiiowmg the landscape archztect s p}ans. S

At this timie a major 1mpr0vement program wasalso
. begun in Rwerwew Park dlrected by des1gns mspn*ed by - -

" Cleveland but compieted by Wﬁham R 'Adams, another
v important figure inthe development of Omaha § parks.
- Bormn in Ireland and tramed as a laradscape garéener by

“his father Adams’ was hired to serve as the first Supenn— S
tendem of Parks in 1889° and heid that pos;tmn for more’ -

: than twenty years

In 1894, De Miller compieted his ﬁve year term on'

the Board of Park Comm;ssxoners and H. W. 8. Cleve-
Jand, in poor health, also.en,ded his-affiliation with the ,'

*. Omaha Commissioners. Although their official involve- © -

" ment with the Board was relatively short, Miller and
- Cleveland left as their iegacy‘—me'found_ation of a park

systern that would serve Omaha well through years of . :

growth and change.- L

. Growth of the System R
* The historic map which forms the basis of the park and

boulevard system tour that follows was produced i in 1916
. for Omaha’s newly estabhshed City Planning Commis- -

_sion, This map was selected bgcause it best presents the -

system in its most finished state relative to-the plans con-

= ceived by H. W.S. Cleveland and the Board of Park Com-

miccinnare in tha sarly 1RGN,

" design by HW. S, Clevel

Miller Park _
Belvedere Boulevard

Along with Fontenelle, Riverview, and a pbrtién of Elm-
wood, Miller Park was added to the system with funds

- from the 1891 bond issue. Unlike the other park sites,
~. which were sought for their scenic advantages, this seven- B
' ty—eaght—acre tract consisted of a level com field cut by . :

several ravines. Because the site offered no commanding

Views nor other interesting natural attributes, some city .
_ _ofﬁcialé objected to the purchase. However, the property’s’
.+ Jocation near to the route of Florenice Boulevard, and the o

prospectof low improverment costs convinced the City '

Council o approve the purchase of the tract for $75 000 in -
1893. '
" In the same year, pians W

ﬁyé 'ared‘ for the pafk’s“'
on afterward, grading,

| Mitter Park; 1931

 Mitler Park; 1926
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: L ',..T_he- map shows how the system’s foundations would

~ be expanded over the years to more fully realize its origi-
nal designers™intentions. While a number of major parks
" were already in place by the mid-1890s, only a portion of

" Florence Boulevard was open for public use. Therefore,

“as the map illustrates, much attention would b_e focused
-over the next twenty years on the construction of links
- between existing park properties. '
To summarize this activity, around the tumn of the
century, work wotlld be started on boulevards linking
Riverview, Hanscom and Bemis parks. By 1910, land

“ was acquired to begin the connection between Fontenelle

and Elmwood parks. Finally, during the teens, the City

" would complete the connector from Elmwood to Font-

. enelle and initiate construction on Jinks between Bemis,
Fontenelle and Miller parks. B
' In addition to boulevards, the 1916 map also shows -
new parks that were brought into the system after the

: '_early '90s. Kountze and Deer parks — small parks sited -

- on boulevard routes — were added just before the tum of
the century, with Curtiss Turner Park entering the system
n 1902. Six years later, in 1908, the Commissioners
would accept a monetary donation to purchase the lake
shore property that would become Levi Caﬁer Park. A
major park at this location was not anticipéted by the
‘Commissioners in their early plans; however, the proper-

" ty’s location allowed for its integration into the system
through parkway links to Florence Boulevérd.



' In the decade of the teens, the City would first add
 Mercer Park aiohg the Bemis-Fontenelle corridor. in
19135, Omaha’s annexation of South Omaha would lead to

i the aquisition of _Spring Lake and five other smaller park

properties. Although it appears that there were early

© attempts to link several of these properties to the existing

* system, such connections were never realized.
Ironically, other boulevard links never completed

- were those first contémplated by Cleveland-and the Com- -

- missioners.. Certainly the link-that received the most

" attention over the years' was the proposed connection

between Hariscom and Elmwood, In their 1893 report,

. the Commissioners stated the’ expectation that this boule-

vard would be ready for use within a year. However, as

_ -~ late as 1917, Park and Recreation Department Superin- .
-: tendent J. B. Hummel in his yearly report would seill = -

-speak confidently about a prounsal o bndge Ems gap m
the system. "

Another bou}evard proposed in the Iate teens was the _'
River Drive project outlined in the 1919 City Piannmg T

Commmsmn Report City PIannmg Needs of Omiaha.

- 'Envisioned as a parkway along ‘the Mzssoun River, from -

. Fontenelle Forest to north of the City Waterworks ‘the

- pro;ect elaborated on the original Cleveland planby -

- . mcoxporatmg portions of Florence Boulevard and

Rwervmw Park. Only a part of the River Drive was feal- e
ized: the construction of Pershing Drive north from Font- R
enelle Bouievard and Gifford Dnve between Rivervww o

* Spring Lake, and Mandan Parks are. the resuits of the
1919 plan.
In the early 19505 the buﬂdmg of the Northwest

- Radial Highway would cause a rift in the parkway net-
.~ ‘work between Fontenelle and Happy Hollow Boulevards.” .-
.. The building of the Northwest Radial foreshadowed the = -

- ‘massive Interstate Highway projects of the early 1960s

&~ projects that would fracture the boulevard connecnons

and reverse the system s h1story of contmuous growth

Happy Hollow Boulevard

With the south branch of Fontenelle Boulevard secured in
1908, the next stage in closmg the gap between Elmwood .
and Fontenelle Parks occurred four years Tater with a dona-

.tion of land by real estate developers C.C. and J.E. George.
" In a 1912 agreement, the George brothers deeded sixteen

acres to the City between Elmwood Park and Western

_-Avenue in the Village of Dundeg. By-accepting the gift,

the City and Park Commissioners consented to spend

$10,000 to construct the boulevard, with the donors pro-
" . viding landscaping and other )mprovements

The George donation left a gap between the southem )
terminus of Fontenelle Boulevard and Western Avenue.

" ‘Through condemnation proceedmgs the City obtained
_ nght-of-way at a cost of $32,000 and in 1918 the connec- -
~tor between Fontenelie and Elmwood parks was complete. -

Also at this tirhe the George brothers contributed an ~ -
additional strip of property 10 widen the boulevard o

" between Cuming and Underwood, pr0v1dmg ground for a

divided roadway and sunken gardens. Nearly thirty years
had passed since H.W.S. Cleveland first outlined his ideas

. for Omaha's parkways. Many miles of boulevards had

bee_n'consnncted; however, in only a few places were the -

) __fands_cape architect’s design concepts fully realized. A por-.
tion of Florenicé Boulevard near Miller Park and this _ :
“stretch on Happy Hollow remaiﬁ the most completely -
A deveioped examples of Cleveland’s vision of “the broad -

parkway with 2 tasteful arrangement of trees and shmb-
bery at its s:des and in the center.”

Sunken Gardens, .
, 1924




lake (which the Board wanted enlarged to tﬁfer_ity. ‘ac
riage concourse that traveled to the pézrk"s higbés{i:bin
and additional drives and walks that threaded through
© wooded sIopes Although Elmwood has seen exteﬁswe

change over the past one hundred years, it is thought that .

remnants of the park’s original design can yet be seen i
the hilltop stands of pine and spruce and in the conﬁgura-f" -
tion of certain roadways o

Lo

"Elmwoad Park; 1821

A Tour of the Park and Boulevard
* _System

To"provide a clearer picture of the early character of the
system, the 1916 Planning Commission map is presented

in‘its original form: no attempt has been made to reflect

the changes ia the system that have occurred since its
publication. Most importantly, while the map does not
show the principal gaps left in the boulevards by the

-building of the Interstate, when traveling the system, the

breaks in Lincoln and Deer Park Boulevards can be

' bridged by following 30th Street and Vinton Street,

- respectively. It should also be noted that in some
instances the map anticipates boulevard routes that later,

. when built, would follow somewhat different paths. A
_reproduction of the complete 1916 map can be Ifound

inside the back cover. Note: All maps are qrfenred with
North.at the top of the page.

In addition to the map, photo graphs have been in-
cluded that show the parks and boulevards over a span of
years, dating from 1909 to ai:out'1942. AIiho.ugh the text

- focuses on the early history of each park and boulevard,

corresponding photographs were not in most cases readi-
1y available; when possible, an effort was made to select
images that capture some facet of the hlstory discussed in

the text.

The descriptions and photographs that follow present

“only limited ghmpses of the ever-changing shape of

Omaha’s early public landscape. Through this tour, you

“will find that the winding cinder paths that were the first

boulevards have been covered over by siraight concrete

- streets, clipped grass has replaced clumps of shrubbery,

and swimming pools now substitate for wild lagoons.

-Yet, much evidence of the foundations of our early parks
- and boulevards still remains. We hope that this gaide

will help make this layer of history more clearly visible.



. the effect of “rural tranquility and graceful beauty "in .’

- In the end, the landscape architect did not hairéz__'_id con- -

Riverview Park .
Riverview Boulevard

" Consistant with H. W. S. Cleveland’s premise that parks- .
should be located in areas before they were built up, the - =
Commissioners allocated funds from the 1891 bond issue
to purchase park lind in the "city’s southern reaches. For " o
. its south-side park, the Board selected a piece of property - .
" on the Missouri River shore in an undeveloped region : -

" between Omaha and South Omaha. Local residents were -

- not at first happy with the Commissioners’ choice, find: ", -
“ing it too far from their homes and 0 hilly that “the land

~ could not support a table on four legs.” Difficulties also -
- arose vﬁth property owners over the tetms of ?urchase,‘
and the city had to use its power of emiﬁent domain to L
acquire the initial parcel of park land in 1894, Ad'diti'c')ﬂa_l :
_tracts were subsequently added tw increase fhé'park o
- over one hundred acres by 1899. - A
" Although Cleveland himself approved of the site on -
. the river, he wasn’t sure-how to design a park that gave

 sight of the Missouri, “that turbid and untamable stream.” .

tend with the problem; his hiealth.f_ailéd and he could no™
longer continue his work in Omaha. Long-time Park " -
| ,--'Supednteadént W. R. Adams prepareéf 'the'pafk’s'des'igné”f
.+.that featured a lagoon and winiding drives. S
" Virtually from its beginnings as a park, the

Riverview = -

Riverview Park
Lagoon; 1938




Elnwood Park Auto-’
camp; 1920

siting of the large central park. Three 'a_i.’ld.‘ﬂl_’lé-hélf mﬂes
from the business district, the parcél was described inthe "

Omaha Bée as a “wild and romantic place,” containing a -
wooded rayine that followed the course of a small stream.
“There aré'all manner of shady nooks in this dell,” the - -
description continued, “and some of the largest forest -
trees in this section '_of th_e c_élintry dre to'be seen nit.” -

Most impressive among the trees were the huge elms that.

prompted _thé Comumissioners 1o give the park the fname”’
Blmwood, o .

Especiall .in'_itks'eziﬂy years, _t:he Park Board received

numerous offers of property for sale or by donation: land
* developers knew that proximify fo park land was advén'—’
tageous in speeding the sale of Tots and raising their val:
ue. The Board refused many offers, but‘accepted the Elm
~wood tract because of its location, scenic advantages an
opportunities for expansion. o o
From the beginning, the Board envisioned that the:
donated parcel would serve as the nucleus for a larger -

= park; thus several years later when the group of Ianciown:‘
ers who donated the first tract offered additional, adj acerit o
"~ acres for sale, 156 were purchased for $135,000. In seek- " .

ing City Council approval for the purchase proposal,
President Miller said it was the Board’s intent to make

Elmwood serve as the “grand park™ for several years. Dr.
- Miller — optimistically planning ahead for a city of five - -
" hundred thousand inhabitants — hoped to later obtaina ~*

tract of one thousand acres further west. .

" Board’s first years, Horace Cleveland was commissi’oné_d’{ '
" to draw up a set of plans for the improvement of the Elm-
o wood tract. According to newspaper accounts, in 1892 he

" outlined plans to the Board that featured a seven-acre -

e < oo Ak .

As with the other parks acquired during the Park ) -
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B -',-"“Hiverview Park; 1917

o ~began on Omaha’s first parkway, Florence Boulevard the

""" land for the boulevard was acquired through condemnan_ _

EimWood Park:

~ Beéar i’it; Biverview -

- Park; 1928
In an initial report to the Park ‘Commissioners in 1889,
Horace Cleveland explained his general principles of
urban park planning, including his conviction that a
“great central park” was 4 necessary component of a
comprehensive park system. Such a park; Cleveland said,

" needed to be of considerable size to shut out city sights
and provide “the refreshment of rural scenes.”

- For Omaha, Cleveland advised-that a tract of no less
than five hundred acres be secured to meet the needs of

- the city’s rapidly increasing populace. With an eye '_

- toward future land values and patterns of city growth, the
landscape architect further specified that the tract be"
Jocated at a central. point far to the west of already dense- _'

. ly populated areas. : , }

Soon afier receiving Cleveiand’s report the Com—
missioners accepted a donation of fifty-five acres along

Leavenworth Street that fit the report’s description for the

a L ol e -  Eimwood Park gei! ‘
tract has had an association with zoo activities. The 1896 course; 1921
“Park _Commissioneré report notes the first addition of a '

" collection of animals to the park, including the purchase

~of a moose ($150),a bear ($25) and an odd expense
incurred for “Moving fish”($1). Over subsequent years

:more of the property was turned over to the zoo’s use; in -
1964 the tract was leased-to the Omaha Zoological Sec1—

..'_ety as the’ site for the Henry Doorly Zoo. After work

next branch in the. system sprouted from the city’s south- -

" ‘emnmost park property, the R1Verv1ew tract. In 1895 the - J
' South entrance near .
Leavenworth Street;

o L - co 4
tion and was turned over to the Park Commissioners for = - - 192

E ,improvement as the Southeast Boulevard. o
In the early 1890s, this boulevard may have been '
contempiated as the link between Hanscom and o
R1verv1ew parks, but later in the decade that connect:on
was established further sonth: '



tion of Grant Street Mﬂitary Avenue and 45;11 Street Tan.

parallel with Military for about 700 feet, then headed due‘ '
north straight to Fontenelle Park. Seciired through emis

nent domam at a cost of $16,000, the parkway was la1d'
out on Iand adjacent to the city limits that, for the most -
part, had not yet been divided by lots, blocks and streets. '

Officially named Fontenelle Boulevard in 1913, tins park- ._ o

way would later join with Happy Hol 10w Boulevard to
complete the route to Elmwood Park. . _

‘The section of boulevard leading north from
Fontenelle Park to join Mliler Park was not acqulred by

the City until the rmd—teens The entire 1ength was mmal-
1y known as Belvedere Boulevard but a 1917 cmy g;‘dl.. )
nance changed the name of the segment of parkway from

Ames 10 Cums Avenue (at 36th Street) to Fontene]le
Boulevard. e

Fontenelie Boulevard at Bedford Street; 1939 )

. Renamed “Riverview Boulevard” in 1913, the wind-
ing road was ongmai}y built to connect the park’s north -

- entrance with Bancroft Street, forming the first leg of the

Southeast Boui_cvard, which later was extended along

. Bancroft to 11th Street, and along 11th to about Mason.
' These additional stretches became known as Bancroft
: " Boulevard and Bellevue Boulevard, although it appears
“that they received little 1mprovemeni and remamed
- “houlevards” pnmanly in name oniy

Riverview Park; 1917
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" Pavilion at Fontenefle L E
: Park; 1942 .

In1911 t_h_e_‘Cominissioﬁers refocused their attention .
i the 'Fé)ﬁtené_ﬂé property, initiating a program of park~

- building activ1tlesthat included grading, ré)_ad construc-
ion and the Jaying out of 2. golf course. As a result of this

16 Fontenelle could be described by Park and

e partment Supertendent J. B. Hummel as
e st popular and best patronized parks in the

stem,” Apart from the golf course, it is not known
 whether park ifﬁpfdf}éments_foﬁowed aspects of the
' desi gns that Horace Cleveland had produced for the prop-
erty nearly twenty-five years earlier. '
_ To begin to bridge the long expanse between the
" ¢ity’s westernmost parks — Fontenelle and Elmwood —
the Park Commissioners in 1908 acquired land for what
they termed the “outer” or Northwest Boulevard. This
150-foot striv of public propertv commenced at the junc- .




._(neer Park .Deer Park Bouievard
‘Spring Lake Park

898 the City Council passed Ordmance No. 4372
‘hich declared .;‘thé necess;ty of appropriating certain
“private property'and lands for the use of the city of Oma-
1 ; for the purpose of makmg an-addition to the public

. 'fjparks 'parkways and botlevards.” What follows is a four-
g "‘;_"page hsnng of legal descriptions of parceis of land, lots,
and picces of lots that together cut a swath between

Riveryiew and Hanscom Parks. This document represents

fan early chapter in the official history of the Central
-':.:-lBoulevard the connector that was intended to link the
ms.lde” parks mc}udmg Hanscom Riverview

The southernmost portion of the Central Boulevard,
referred' to as'the South Central Boulevard was described
: m an 1898 Park Commissioners report “It will be 150
feet w1de exceptxng between Seventeenth and Twentieth
streets where it widens into a small park of twelve aczes,
enclosing a deep ravine, coversd with a dense growth of
forest trees.” .
~ . This widened area of the boulevard — iater enlarged By
"’ farther — was named Deer Park, presumably due to the
.- fact that it was carved from land in the Deer Park Addi-
tion, an area of steep terrain and thick vegetatxon that was
lL‘KcIy a popular home for deer.
The South Central boulevard was dedicated and
_ opened for travel in 1901; that section of parkway bet-
weeﬁ Riverview Park and the Union Pacific and Burling-
ton tracks at Vinton and 27th was renamed Deer Park
" Boulevard in 1913.
*In the late 1960s the State of Nebraska s Depamnent

Deer Park Boulevard;
‘ 1912




'Sprmg Lake Park
T 1924

: ‘Paviiio':n at Spririg- '
Lake Park; 1931 -

of Roads receweci txtie toa pomon of the bcuievard
through condemnation for Interstate Highway use. I- 480
severs the boulevard at 28th Street; this is one of two
major breaks in the parkway system caused by the build~
ing of the federal highway project. '
Spring Lake Park was added to the Omaba system in
1915, but its beginnings as a park date from thirty years
earlier — specifically, to 1884 when a groﬁp of business- -

men affiliated with. the Union Stockyards Company platted .

the subu:rb of Scﬁ_lth Omaba. City founders hoped to make
' South Omaha more attractive to prospective residents by
' resewing'mofe than one hundred acres of scenic land in .
‘}-the noﬂhwest corner of the townsite. Spnng—fed lakes on

) the property were used as South Omaha’ s water source,
and at one_ time the tract was sought by the state fpr a fish-

they; were ﬁrst mcorporated) orgamzed into the South’

. $Omaha Land Company in 1887. the land was “develoued '

i report, “on account of lack of ftmd

Aftef the group of original owners (or “syndicé%e"’ as .

" Fontenelle Park - .
-Fonten_eile Boulevard

- . This 108-acre tract of high rblling hills northwest of the

¢city’s original center serves as an example of the early

. Park Commiissioners” foresight in-planning ahead for - -
** future generations. Land for the park was purchased in’
1 893 with $90,000 in funds from the Board’s ﬁrst bond
 issue, despite protests from citizens who felt that the tract

was located too far from the city. HW.S. Cleveland
advised the Board on the selection of the site and in 1892

- was paid $1650 for plans for the tract’s redesign. In the
- same year, the park was named to commemorate the Chlef :
“of the Omaha Indxans Logan Fontenelle. '

Soon after the property’s acquisition, a number of

 trees were planted, but few survived the drought of the

mid-1890s. Further efforts to improve t_he iract were
deter:ed according to the 1898 Board of Comimsswners _
" cnncsm

Fortenelie Park goit coursé-, 1931

The Fontenelle tract remained essentially ?aéturerland
for another decade, until city growth expanding to the

; northwast created a demand for the property s 1mpr0v- —
"ment.



declaring the need to take land 10 complets the

- route was declared ready for impro\}ement."
. When the system of boulevard nomenclaty
changed in 1913, this stretch was named Paxton, for pig-
neer businessman Wﬂham Paxton Settling in Omah i
the 1860s, Paxton had exte_nswo bissiness and real
' interests in Omaha—primary among them was hi
volvement in the development of the Union Stockyards.
Together with John A Crexghton Boulevard, Paxton
A Bouievard forms a link between Bemis and For;tenelle -
- Parks that serves as a memonal to two of the c1ty S most‘;_’_"?
_influential 19th cemury citizens. B : '
- In addition to Paxton and Crelghton, in 1912 the city.”
‘ abqu:red through its powers of eminent domain land
needed for three other ma_yor links in the parkway sys— ‘
tem. Major work on extencimg and i improving the boule— :

vards would continue throughout the teens, fueled by the S

‘ prohferanon of automobﬂes anci their populanty for
recreamonal use. '

“dicate Par % ‘_

: "; S to sofme extent by landscape architects” with the éxpeﬁdi— |
o turo of about $30 000 for improvements. In 1892 South
* Omahans were angered by the land. company ’s building of

a seven—foot fence around the property, closing the park off
to pubhc use. After battles with residents, the company

sold part f he land for building lots, but agreed tokeepa -

portion open for the public.

For a penod Omaha Park Commissioners eyed “Syn-
as Spring Lake was commonly known—
for the sme of a south—szde park. Because the land was
within the corporate limits of South Omaha, acquisition
became acomphcated matter and the Board settled
mstead on the Riverview tract. When South Omaha was
annexed in. 1915 the city purchased the park land and

-+ Spring Lake came mto the Omaha system,

Ornaha also assumed ownershxp of five other parks
through the annexanon of South Omaha: Highland, Clear-
view, McKmley, Mandan and- Morton. With their acquisi-

‘tion, some attompts were made to buﬂd boulevard connec-

tions between soverai of théSe propemes e from Spring

" Lake to R1vorv1ew for example. The hnks however were.
: 'ﬁever reahzod 7 : N

Swimming Poal at Spring Lake; 1921
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Creighton Bodievard :
Paxton Bou_levard_

From information conzamed in the 1907 Park Co mis
sioners Anmnual Report, early plans for extendmg i
boulevard system north from Bémis Park catled for the
construction of a boulevard along 331d Street to “Vlﬂler

Park, with-a second segment branching from Bemis' north— n _: :
west to Fontenelle. Clearly, this proposal was never teal- o )
ized, but a modified version of the plan began to take 2

shape around 1910 with the development of John A
Creighton Boulevard. i s

Extending from Hamilton Street on the edge of the
old Walnut Hill Reservoir north to Lake along the form ;
37th Street, John A. C}:exghton Boulevard wmds east
Bedford where it follows 32nd north to Sahler. Land r;eéii~
ed for the two-mile parkway was aéquired through. édfz’-'
demnation proceedings initiated in 1910 and generaﬁy :
completed in 1912, While Omaha’s earlier boulevards -

moved through areas ahead of building deveiopment ' -
the case of this boulevard, a number of houses were taken o

to make room for the roadway.

Known for a brief time as Highland Boulevard, Iohn e

- A. Creighton Boulevard was given the name of the pio-
neer Omaha businessman and philanthropist in 1913 — .
six years after his death — in part, perhaps, to recognize -~
the contributions of his land company in furthering the
development of the parkway system. The John A.
Creighton Real Esta't_e & Trust Company d_oﬁa_ted tracts

for Hanscdm and Lincoln Boulevards; it appears thatthe -
company also may have been involved in advancing the T

system north of Bernis Park,

Of particular interest on this boulevard is the Toute of T

the roadway as it travels through what is now Adams :

Park. As a concession to modern, higher speed travel the R

hairpin curves of the original switchback have been
straightened, but the roadway path is still discerrﬁbie,_
though now covered by sod.

About a year after the City Council took action to set .

in motion the building of the north-south section of the

North Central Boulevard. the Couricil passed an ordinance

=~ Hanscom Boulevard

Hanscom Park

L City éfﬁcials may have been overly optimistic when they |
- passed an ordinance declaring Central Boulevard between

Riverview and Hanscom parks “open for public travel” in
1898. Preperty acquisitiont for the route was not complet-

~ed for at least another decade, when the gap between

Arbor Street and Hahscom Park was closed by donations

~ of land along 32nd Street.

 The area to the south of Hanscom Park was slower to
develop as°a residential district relative to land on the oth-

.- er three sides of the park; however, the cémpietion of the
" boulevard from Arbor Street spurred home—buﬁdmg south

of the park. The Commissioners report for 1909 observes E
that “the opening of the Botlevard into the par has

" made an ideal resxdence section forpeople whose work
. takes them to SouthO" aha '

As the report implies; - addition to-their recreatlonai ‘
function, boulevards were valued as expedient transit

© routes. According to H.W. S. Cleveland, the diagonal path
.. of a boulevard could save the traveler time as well as the

monotony of passage down a strai ght city street. In their
1897 report, the Commissioners looked ahead to a park-

- ~ 'way that would tie together scattered neighborhoods in

the city’s southeast district with South Omaha and “all the

. territory lying to the north and west of Hanscom park,”

noting that the boulevard would be “the only possible

- fce Skating in
Hanscom Park; 1915



j.roadway with a traversable grade connectin g these paﬂs ol

of the city.”
~ Later, when the City Councﬂ passed an ordmance
clarifying the boulevard system’s ccmfusmg nornenciature

(South East, West Central and North West, for examp}e) _

that portion of the South Central boulevard between

~ Arbor Street and Ed Creighton Avenue was demgnated
“Hanscom Boulévard.”

. Flower beds and
. conservatory in’
- Hanscom Park; 1917

In his book Omaha Memories, Ed Morearty recalled
_ Hanscom Park prior to its occupation by the Park Com-
missioners: “the only ornaments worthy of note in the '
park up to 1890 were two cadaverous bald eagles.” Over
 the park’s east entrance, the author reports, was an arched

. sign that read, “Nature Designs and Art Improves.” ,
' 'Morearty further observes that “if nature in its crude form _ :

ever needed the touch of art, that park certainly did.”

_ The Park Commissioners evidently concurred with. .
- Morearty’s assessment: the improvement of the Hanscom
"+ tract was one of the first pro;ccts taken on by the newly

e Tormed Board _ o
" Inthe summer of 1889 they aSsigned thg design ) :_ .

“ed in plan and very greatly impfoved...under his trained
- hands.” The 1898 Comrmissioners report describes the '.
~ results of his work: “Two lakes, a cascade, extensive

: - flower beds, two and one-half mﬂes of macadarmzed

- roadway, fountains and a magmﬁcent grewth of forest

" frees make this the onlv finished park in the ¢itv.” -

work to HW.S. Cleveland, and according to one Com- :
‘mission publication, Hanscom Park was “radically chang-

Mercer, prominent Omaha physician, street railway enter-
priser and real estate developer. Dr. Mercer built an

imposing family home at 40th and Cuming Streets in the -

" early 1880s; he was also an officer in the Bemis Park
. Land Development Company, developer of the Bemis

Park subdivision lying immediately to the east of Caroline
Mercer Park. _ _
Connecting with meoln Bouievard on the east, Mer- -

" cer Park Road sweeps through the park to join Mercer
" Boulevard. The boulevard terininates at 38th Street. To

connect with the next link in the sysiem, John Cfeigh-ton
Boulevard, one travels through land now owned by the
Metropotitan Utilities District, originally the site of the

- ¢ity's Walnut Hill waterworks and reservoir built in 1881.




not allow my name to be used in connection wit
1mprovement of the park.
. A compromise was struck, and in the end the park

" was developed according to the laﬂdscape archltec
plans. Today, key elements of the ongmal desxgns ha
~ been lost: the Iagoon has been removed and ext
: shrubbery has been replaced with sod. Ne.veﬂi‘;elass

. Cleveland’s decision to retain the site’s steep tdpdgraphyr

" has benefitted the pack by distancing it from nea.rby Cum— : f. =

 ing Street. N
The pmperty now occupled by Carohne Mercer Pa:k
and Mercer Park Boulevard was donated to the City i~

1912 by:the 8.D. Mercer Company. The four acres of pajik .

land were conveyed to the City under the condition that °

39th Street between Cuming and Nicholas would be éorsi_é .

* pleted as part of the boulevard system w1£hm nine months

Condmons of rhe deed spectﬁed the route of the p'ort or of _' -

the boulevard that extended throuch the patk, and ev
speﬂed out the paving inaterials for the boulevarcl

‘The df:ed also demgnated that the park portion of the
donation be known Dfﬁmaily as Carohne Mercer Park '
Ne}son Mercer, pr651dent of the 5.D. Mercer Company a
the txme of the donation, mtended the park as a memorial
to his 81ster Carohne Mercer who died during a 1911
. trans-Atlantié steamsi'np voyage. T

Land included in the donation was part of a much -
~larger tract acqulred and developed earher by Dr. Samu'

" Mercer Park Hoad;
1926

- ness of the park 'today :

" . About twenty-five years earlier, property for the park
had been donated to the City by early Omaha settlers,

- Andrew J. Hanscom and James Megeath. “Af the time of

the donation,” Omaha historians James W. Savage and
John T. Bell report,”it was extremely rough, covered by

" hagzel brush and natural forest trees, situated in an inac-

cessible and unmv:tmg portion of the city, then but

- sparsely settled.”

in 1889 and 1890 Cleve}and was pald $913.30 for

plans to improve the rough tract of land. Although the

landscape architect’s drawings have been lost, design ele-
ments that were evi&endy part of his origihal pians have
survived. The 1892 Commissioners report remarks that
“a belt of pine trees was planted on the northwest side of

" the park which when grown will have a charming effect.

Tins northwest portion o the park since being decorated
w1th flowers is becomz
pmes and flower

Lily pond in i‘fa.nscoi'n
Park; 1909



Turner Boulevard
‘Turner Park

‘The report of the Board of Park Commissioners for 1897 -+ -

comments that a notable feature of the year was dona-
tions of lands by “public spirited citizens...indicating a
- growing inferest in our parks.” Mentioned among them

\‘

; y”%‘f; L

: ’lfz"” 7
. ¢ . . : ( .l
was the “generous donation of Mrs. Charlotte M. Tumner b
of thiry-two lots in blocks No 1. and 2. Summit Place, for - -+
e

WY

- parks and boulevard purposes.” This donation greatly
increased the prospects for the system’s Central Boule-
vard, later called the West Central Boulevard ~- the con< =
- necting link between Hanscom and Bemis parks.
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" Turnet Park; 1915

~ After the turn of the century, the Jand donated by _
) Mrs. Turner was deveiop_ed as Curtiss Tumer Park with - '
the boulevard running along its eastern edge. The son of
Charlotte and her husband Charleé a real estate develop-
Er, Cumss Turner was a civil engmeer who died inan
';f_'1898 avaianche in Alaska. It appears ‘that after his death, -
: the Turners requested that their lanid’ donatlon be usedas .
- a park o memorialize their son.
Through condemnatlon proceedmgs, a(idmonai 1and 2
- for the bouievard was assembied and the ‘West Central -
connector. between Hanscom and Berms was officially
" opened for ase in 1902 The port:on of the West Central
parkway extendmg from Wooiworth Avenue to Dodge ' -
Street was named Tumer boulevard in 1913 hononng the'- "'
first land donor. *- ' '




" Fall in Bemis Park;
" befare dramage, eart
1 QBBS

Bemis Park;1916

" containing a steep ravine and creek; was covered with
native trees and brush. The Commission purchased ﬁbout
three additional acres from the Bemis Company, and in
1893 H.W.S. Cleveland was paid $200 to complete park
. designs. Cleveland determined that the ravine could b
filled in to create a }arger area of usable ground but
" instead recommended to preserve the natural picturesque’ .
" features of the tract, mcludmg : great mlmber of ems g
elm, linden and hackberry trees. - - S

. Aswork began on the development of the park 3
- conffict arose between then—Mayor Berms” owner of the

. Bemis Land Company, and the Park Comnussxone:s con-

" cemning the park boundaries. Bemis felt that the construc-

tion of Lincoln Boulevard encroached upon his land; he

also wanted the ravine filled in. A batile was waged in the
press with Bemis bemoaning his gift of land, and Cleve-
land countering that if his plans were altered, “I should

L




_ View of the Clarinda Apartments from Turner Park; 1815

& Thls 1dea of small parks Iocated at pomts along the
:_ bouievard system ‘was consistent “with what we know of -

the Cleveland plan. In fact, in his first. report to the Oma- - )

ha Commlssmn in 1889, the landscape arch;tect stressed -
the need for small parks, recommendmg “the appropria~

i uon at occasmnai intervals of orie or more blocks to be . o

! _reserved as smatl parks easily accessible to those that

need them ” “IdeaHy,” Cleveland contmued “these parks S

' __would be Tinked to the boulevards.”™

VLeavenworth Street (now called Leavenworth Park) was

 another example of a small park of this type. Called the . ) '
", “Sunken Gardens,” this Tectangular parcel was acquired. -

. ‘around 1910 and later received its name from below-
o street—grade ornamental flower beds. '
Simllarly, building upon the idea of boulevards as

, 11near parks, the land that is now Dewey Park — on Tarn-

_er Boulevard between Farnam and Leavenworth- .
Streets — was also acquired around 1910. Like Leaven-

-worth Park with its ball diamonds and play equipment, - - .

Dewey Park has been appropriated for more structured -
types-of recreational activities that H.W.S. Cleveland
could not have envisioned.

The block-long open area along Tumer Bouievard at '

. Lincoln Boulevard, Bemis Park

Mercer Park and |
Mercer Park Boulevard

: The 1889 Bemis Park subdivision plat shows Lincoln

Boulevard winding through the southern portion of the res-
idential suburb between 32nd Street and Pleasant Street,

" now 38th Street. The road borders an area designated

“Pubhc Park™ on the map; this is the ravine that was soon .-

“tobe developed by ‘the Park Commissioners as Bemis

Park. )
The Bemis Park additié)n was the ¢ity’s first subdivi- -

" sion to be laid out with a curving street pattern that con-

formed to the lay of the land, as opposed to the rule of the’

. rectangular block, or gridiron plan.

The landscape arcmtcct Alfred Edgerton of New York
was responsible for the subdivision’s design. His work
appealed to HW.S. Cleveland and the first Park Commis-
sioners: they mcorporated the road into their plan for the |

. Central Bou}evard the link betwe n Bemis and Hanscom -
- Park, Later the szgmﬁcance of meoin Boulevard was - -
. _acknowiedged by extendmg the niame to the stretch of

‘boulevard between Dodge and 32nd Street. A large pomon .
" of this boulevard was obliterated in the building of [-480
- — only the portion between 30th Street and Mercer Park -

- road remams intadét.

" Portion of West Cen- = -
{rat Boulevard, later

- {o become Lincoin
Boulevard; 1813

Tn 1889 the Bemis Land Company donated to thé

‘Board of Park Commissioners a six-acre tract of unbuild--

able eround within the Bemis Park subdivision. The tract, -
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